IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-732

Glen Edward Rogers

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Fla. Bar No. 0558893 STAFF ATTORNEY JAMES VIGGIANO, JR. Fla. Bar No. 0715336 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 13, 1995, Hillsborough County grand jury indicted Glen Edward Rogers, for first-degree murder, armed robbery and auto theft. Specifically, Rogers was charged with the November 5, 1995, murder of Tina Marie Cribbs, and the theft of her purse and/or car keys and/or jewelry, and also with the theft of her car. Rogers was taken into custody on November 13, 1995, near Richmond, Kentucky, and was extradited to Florida on May 1, 1996.

Rogers was tried by jury from April 28 through May 9, 1997, Circuit Court Judge Diana M. Allen, presiding. He was found guilty as charged. Following penalty phase, the jury recommended death. Rogers filed a Motion for New Trial, based on a newly discovered witness. Hearings on the motion were held June 13, 1997, and all day on June 20, 1997. The court denied the motion. Mr. Rogers was sentenced to death on July 11, 1997. The Court filed its Sentencing Order the same date. Mr. Rogers filed a notice of appeal on August 8, 1997. The judgment of guilt and sentence of death were affirmed on direct appeal in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 783 So.2d 980 (Fla. 2001). The Mandate was returned on 3/01/01.

A Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend was filed by CCRC-M on 9/28/01. On July 18, 2002, an Amended 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief was filed on October 17, 2003, a Huff hearing was held, with the Honorable Rex Barbas presiding. Subsequent to the Huff hearing on October 17, 2003, Judge Barbas entered an Order Denying, in Part, and Granting Evidentiary Hearing on Defendant=s Amended 3.851 Motion For Postconviction Relief on 5/14/04. The 3.851 court ordered that: **A**Defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on claims I(A), I(B), I(C), I(E) in part, IV(A) and VIII and that claims I(E) in part, II, III, IV(B), VI, and VII of Defendant=s Motion are hereby

DENIED. The Court will reserve ruling on claim I(D).@An evidentiary hearing was set for June 18, 2004 and August 6, 2004.

On June 4, 2004, Post-conviction counsel filed a Motion to Reconsider Claim II or in The Alternative to Proffer Evidence. The 3.851 court considered the motion and proffer through the testimony of Dr. R. Acton at the initial evidentiary hearing on June 18, 2004 and on August 3, 2004, entered an Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Claim II or in The Alternative to Proffer Evidence. Said order specifically directed that ADefendant may not appeal until a final Order has been issued on Defendant=s Amended 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief.@

On March 7, 2005 the 3.851 court issued an Order Denying Amended 3.851

Motion for Postconviction Relief. Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal in a timely manner and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

An evidentiary hearing was held on June 18, 2004 and August 6, 2004 on the Defendant=s Motion to Reconsider Claim II or in The Alternative to Proffer Evidence, claims I(A)(Failure to call Robert Thompson as a witness in the guilt phase), I(B) (Mitchell Monteverdi), I(C) (Jonathan Edward Lundin) I(E) in part(Prosecutorial Misconduct) claim IV (A) (Failure of Defense Counsel to object during Closing Argument), claim VIII (cumulative error)were the claims heard at the evidentiary hearing.

EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

A. TESTIMONY OF DR. RONALD T. ACTON

Dr. Ronald Acton was the first witness to testify at the evidentiary hearing on June 18, 2004. Dr. Acton was called for the limited purpose of Defendant-s Motion to Reconsider Claim II or in The Alternative to Proffer Evidence. Dr. Acton testified as a defense expert in Mr. Rogers=original trial and his qualifications were stipulated for the purpose of the hearing. (PCR Vol. VII-1113). Dr. Acton testified that he remembered the State expert at the original trial, one Dr. Baechtel. (PCR Vol. VII-1116). Dr. Acton was aware that at the time of trial, Dr. Baechtel did no testing on the blue jean shorts at issue, rather Dr. Baechtel reviewed the report of the testing and signed the report out. (PCR Vol VII-1116). Dr. Acton was unable to find out, at the time of trial which technician actually performed the test. However, although he did not know who actually tested the shorts, he testified that he had no problem with the methodology used in the DNA testing of the blue jean shorts because the methodology is a standard methodology. (PCR Vol. VII-1116-17). Dr. Acton testified that the only way to determine competence of a given person to perform the testing on the shorts barring testing by an independent laboratory, is how the technician performed on standard proficiency tests that would be administered by an appropriate agency. (PCR Vol. VII-1118). Dr. Acton testified that at the time the blue jean shorts were tested, he had not been provided evidence that the FBI laboratory had achieved accreditation. (PCR Vol. VII-1122). Dr. Acton testified that if he had known that the FBI lab was not accredited at the time of the testing, his opinions

would have been different in that confidence in the data that was being reviewed by him would have been compromised. (PCR Vol. VII-1122-23). Dr. Acton opined that the reliability of the data that he had to work with is contingent upon the ability of the lab to perform the test, the qualifications of the persons who performed the test in interpreting the data, or have they been accredited by a given agency thats in the particular field for which the test falls under, and how well are they performing proficiency tests. All of those factors, in addition to what he [Acton] received, are important on whether or not he could put a lot of faith in the data provided both to him and to Baechtel. (PCR Vol. VII 1124-25). Dr. Acton further testified that the newly discovered evidence regarding routine contamination of the samples by the FBI lab at the time of the testing of the blue jean shorts would have changed his opinion at trial had he known of the routine contamination. (PCR Vol. VII-1125-26). Dr. Acton ruled out the possibility that one of the factors that can cause alleles to be more or less intense would be the amount of the biological material present in the stain. The sample would have equal amplification. (PCR Vol. VII 1128-29). The issue of the newly discovered evidence and how it would have changed Dr. Acton-s opinion had he known of it at time of trial was summed up in this manner:

Q. Okay, Doctor, now, briefly to sum up, would you or would you not have recommended that these blue shorts be tested by a different lab had you known then what you know now?
A. Yes, I would. And I B
Q. Okay, Okay. Now, if B since you relied on this lab, which you would have recommended not be used, wouldn that

necessarily change your whole opinion about these shorts and the stains? A. Well, if I had known about the problems that had been occurring, indeed. MR. KILEY: No further questions, Your Honor. (PCR Vol. VII-1142).

B. TESTIMONY OF ROBERT A. FRASER

Robert Fraser represented Mr. Rogers in the penalty phase of the trial. (PCR Vol.

VII-1162). It was Mr. Fraser-s responsibility to make all legal objections in the penalty

phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol. VII-1162). Regarding the closing arguments by Cox, the

following testimony was given by Fraser:

Q. Okay. Do you recall Assistant State Attorney Cox during the penalty phase closing argument commenting on the victim Tina Marie Cribbs=thoughts before she died, and for purposes of the record this would be located in volume 23, page 2819 through 2821. Specifically, she **B** Prosecutor Cox was arguing about Ms. Cribbs remaining conscious?

- A. Yes, sir. She argued she could have remained conscious.
- Q. And that she could feel the pain of the knife wounds?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. She reflected back on her life?
- A. Yes, she could have reflected back on her life, right.
- Q. And she could have reflected back on opportunities that she had missed?
- A. Yes, sir, all those things are encompassed in the argument.
- Q. And thoughts of her children she never see?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And speculating that her mother might be trying to reach her on a beeper?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And you didn=t object to this; correct?
- A. No, I didn=t.

Q. Do you recall Assistant State Attorney Cox stating: Is there anything about the excuse of voluntary use of alcohol

that, in any way, mitigates the death of Tina Marie Cribbs? Oh, Mr. Rogers goes to a bar, spends his money to drink alcohol and then kills somebody and we=re suppose to say, oh, well, that somehow takes away from the horror of that woman=s death@

And reference, volume 23, page 2827. Do you recall her making an argument along those lines?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you did not object to her making that argument; correct?

A. No, I didn**=**t.

Q. Mr. Fraser, you presented evidence in the penalty phase that Mr. Rogers did suffer from a brain damage; correct?

A. I really don t remember, but I did reread my closing argument, and I think porphyria or porphylia was the brain condition he had, and I did make a point of that, right.

Q. Do you recall a trial court found a statutory mitigating circumstance that Mr. Rogers= capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired and was given some weight?

A. I don≠ remember that, but III take your word for it.

Q. Okay. Do you recall Assistant State Attorney Cox speaking to that mitigator when she said, **A**Mr. Rogers is a violent, aggressive person, and brain damage has nothing to do with it. That=s Glen Rogers.@ At volume 23, page 2827 of the record. Do you recall her making that kind of argument? A. Right.

Q. And you did not object to that argument made by the prosecutor; correct?

A. No, I didn=t.

Q. Okay. Do you recall, regarding non-statutory mitigation, Assistant State Attorney Cox arguing:

A And the thing is, to what point can we stop blaming our childhood, can we stop blaming the frailties of our parents? Because every parent is a human being. No one is blessed with perfect parents. We all try to be, but we all have our shortcomings. When you=re 34 years old, is it fair to blame anybody but yourself? When is it that we, as a society, call upon the individual as an adult to take responsibility for their actions? He and he alone is responsible.@ And that was at volume 23, page 2829. Do you recall Assistant state Attorney Cox making that argument?

A. That-s what the transcript says, yes, sir.

Q. You did not object to that argument?

A. No.

Q. Do you recall Assistant State Attorney Cox making what has been **B** what has come to be known as the Desert-Storm argument in Mr. Rogers=case?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that was at volume 23, page 2833 and 2834. In that argument she spoke of her father=s duty to serve in the Desert Storm even though he was diagnosed with brain cancer?

A. Yes, sir. He wasn=t diagnosed with brain cancer. They found a shadow on his brain.

Q. Right. That was brought up in closing?

A. Right.

Q. You did not object to that argument being made?

A. No, sir.

Q. And did you come to know or later learn that Assistant State Attorney Cox was sanctioned by the Bar Association for making that argument in the Ruiz case?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And also she was sanctioned for making that same argument in Mr. Rogers=case?

A. HI take your word for it. I don≠ remember her being sanctioned for the Rogers case. I know she caught some grief from the bar. I can≠ recall which case it was. (PCR Vol VII 1163-1167).

Mr. Fraser further testified that he was under the impression that Cox was attacking the

defense, not denigrating them. (PCR Vol. VII-1169). Regarding Cox=s denigration of the

brain damage, Fraser felt that Cox again, was entitled to argue that Rogers=violent

behavior was distinct from his obvious brain damage. (PCR Vol. VII 1170). Regarding

the failure to object to the Desert Storm argument, Mr. Fraser admitted that if he had the

benefit of the Ruiz decision, where competent counsel objected and got relief for his

client, he would have objected. (PCR Vol. VII 1171).

C. TESTIMONY OF NICK SINARDI

Nick Sinardi was the attorney who represented Mr. Rogers in the guilt phase of the

trial beginning on April 18, 1997. Trial resulted in a conviction. (PCR Vol. VII 1174-75).

Regarding the testimony of Dr. Acton, the DNA lab scandal, and the issue of

newly discovered evidence, the following testimony was elicited:

Judge, in regards to Claim 2, the DNA claim.

Mr. Sinardi, you heard Dr. Acton who was your expert, get up in trial and I proffered his testimony earlier today?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Sinardi, you were unaware of this scandal within the FBI lab?

A. Well, that-s not entirely correct. I was aware that there was an investigation going on with the FBI lab. There was an investigation going on with the FBI lab. There had been some initial newspaper coverage and I believe at the time it was known as the **B**

Q. Left Court Report; correct, sir?

A. I=m sorry?

Q. Would it be the Left Court Report?

A. I understood it to be the Whitehurst investigation.

Q. Well, would it surprise you that the Whitehurst investigation was the initial investigation and concerned anything but the lead DNA lab?

A. Correct, and that=s exactly correct. I did do, I don=t know if it was an internet investigation, but I do have the investigative report of the Department of Justice, of the Inspector General=s Office concerning the improper practices of the FBI laboratory.

Q. But then were you aware that subsequent to Mr. Rogers= conviction, a report called the Left Court Report and Investigations by FBI **B** or testimony by FBI agents and laboratory technicians was published subsequent to Mr. Rogers= conviction; right?

A. Yes, I=m aware of that now.

Q. Now. Obviously, at the time of the trial you weren=t? THE COURT: Counsel, let him finish his answer please.

THE WITNESS: Correct. In the report I=ve referenced, it makes no **B** does not indicate any improprieties in the DNA section of the FBI lab at that time.

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Okay. But if you were aware that there were improprieties in the FBI lab that was going on at the time Mr. Rogers= evidence was being tested, would you have considered that an important aspect in your cross-examination of Dr. Baechetel?

A. Well, I was aware that there were improprieties going on in the FBI lab pursuant to the Inspector General-s report I have referenced to you. That report, however, does not make any reference to any improprieties in the DNA laboratory or analysis section of the FBI laboratory.

Q. Right. Now, sir, if you had become aware that a subsequent report did make reference to improprieties in the DNA, slash, serology sections of the FBI lab, would you have considered that information worth exploring?

A. Yes.

Q. But, sir, is it safe to assume you had no way of knowing about a study which wasn=t published at the time you needed to know about it?

A. II agree with that.

Q. Okay. So now, would you at least agree that at issue in this case was this stain on these blue shorts discovered in Kentucky in the Festiva, the white car?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, if you had been aware of the problems of misconduct, bias, incompetence that were occurring in the FBI labs, and in particular in the DNA section, at the time of the testing of the mixed stain, would you have cross-examined Baechetel on that?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you have advised your expert that there were problems with the testing and competence and certification of the DNA lab/

A. Of the FBI?

Q. Right.

A. Yes. (PCR Vol. VII 1205-1208).

Regarding the critical importance of the issue of the testing of the blue shorts, Mr. Sinardi

testified:

Q. All right. So in light of the DNA evidence testified to by Dr. Baechetel and your own expert Dr. Acton, how did you deal with the presence of that mixed stain on the defendant=s jean shorts?

A. Well, the issue was obviously that it was, as Dr. Acton testified tom it was in fact a mixed stain, and they could not exclude either Mr. Rogers or Ms. Cribbs. However, included in that mixed stain was blood, and the issue, obviously, was that state was trying to establish that it was Ms. Cribbs=blood in that stain and another bodily fluid. Now, obviously our position was, no, it=s just the opposite, it was Mr. Rogers= blood in that mixed stain and Ms. Cribbs=bodily fluid because they had consensual sex and that it could have been saliva, it could have been vaginal fluid, it could have been perspiration, it could have been anything on his shorts. (PCR Vol. VII-1222)

The significance of the blue shorts as the sole evidence of murder and the evasive

manner of testimony of Mr. Sinardi is documented in the following manner:

THE COURT: What=s the point of this? That=s what I=m trying to get out. What=s the point of Mr. Ambrose **B** BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Mr. Chalu made a big deal about the evidence of murder, and is it safe to say, sir, that you had plenty of evidence of theft or possibly robbery, the wallet that he made reference to, the car, the chase, the mad cap chase in Kentucky, all of that is evidence of theft or robbery; correct, sir?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. But the only evidence of murder is this mixed stain; isn=t that correct, sir? Didn=t you say that in your closing? Are you going to make me read your closing back to you?

THE COURT: Counsel, that=s inappropriate.

THE WITNESS: That was the biggest piece of evidence. There was also the note on the door, do not disturb, there was the **B** it was registered under his name, he was in the room, et cetera.

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Of**B**

A. And the flight, the video itself was damaging because it wasn=t someone that was being concerned about being arrested for stealing a car.

Q. Well, there was also evidence of Mr. **B** how should I put this, sir?

A. There was also a statement that had locked us into a position.

Q. I understand, but there-s also evidence that Mr. Rogers never has been, shall we put it in the vernacular, cooking on all four burners?

A. I have no reason to believe that he=s not.

Q. You have no reason to believe that he was not granted statutory mitigation in the penalty phase of his trial?

A. Yes, he was.

Q. You didn[±] consider Mr. Rogers a mentally ill individual?

- A. No.
- Q. You didn=t?
- A. No, I did not.

Q. Even though you hired two doctors that said he was?

A. To have him examined, correct.

Q. To have him examined. And those doctors found him psychotic: right?

A. I had no problems communicating with Mr. Rogers.

Q. You had no problems communicating with Mr. Rogers, but you were no strangers to Mr. Rogers=somewhat bizarre behavior; right?

A. The only contact I had with Mr. Rogers was in the confines of the Hillsborough County Jail.

Q. But I mean, the evidence of do not disturb, the evidence of the chase, the evidence of violence, is it not, sir? It=s a note, it=s a chase, it=s not conclusive evidence that **B**

THE COURT: Counsel, are you arguing or are you asking a question?

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Is a note in and of itself, do not disturb, on a motel room door evidence of murder?

A. Circumstantial evidence that he or someone didnt want

the room**B**

Q. Is a car?

A. **B** viewed for some period of time.

MR. CHALU: Your Honor, could he let him finish?

THE COURT: Were you finished?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Go ahead.

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Is a car chase, where a defendant throws full beer cans at the police, evidence of murder or evidence of fleeing and eluding a police officer?

A. I believe they also shot at him.

Q. They also shot at him?

A. I believe, if my memory is correct.

Q. But is that evidence of murder?

A. I think it s evidence of flight.

- Q. Flight from?
- A. Possibly murder.
- Q. Possibly murder, possibly robbery, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Possibly car theft?
- A. Correct.

Q. Possibly some other charge, correct?

A. I dont know what the other charge would be.

Q. That=s right, but you don=t know what he was running from; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Would evidence of blood on some shorts allegedly worn by Mr. Rogers with someone else=s DNA mixed with the blood be more compelling evidence of murder or not?

A. I=m sorry, I don=t understand the question. Are you saying that**B**

Q. I=m saying, sir **B**

THE COURT: Go ahead and rephrase the question.

THE WITNESS: Yes, repeat the question. I don t understand the question.

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. I=m saying, sir, that in your closing argument you maintained that the only evidence of murder was the mixed stain on the shorts?

A. That couldn t be explained by theft or robbery, et cetera.

- Q. Right.
- A. Yes

Q. And your closing at trial was there was ample evidence that Rogers was a thief but not enough evidence to show that he was a murderer; isn=t that true, sir? A. Correct. (PCR Vol. VII 1239-1243)

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