IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GLEN EDWARD ROGERS,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC05-732

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Collateral counsel further confuses the issue by misquoting the lower court's order. On pages 71-73 of his initial brief, Appellant correctly states that the trial court "denied Mr. Rogers a hearing on all sub-issues in this claim with the exception of 'A. Improper prosecutorial comments during penalty

phase closing arguments,'" but counsel then block quotes from two separate orders. After the case management conference, the lower court denied an evidentiary hearing on sub-claim B, but granted an evidentiary hearing on sub-claim A:

Defendant alleges that he was deprived of his a reliable adversarial testing due ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial, in violation of Mr. Rogers' Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights United States Constitution the corresponding rights under the Florida Constitution. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to improper prosecutorial comments during closing arguments in the penalty phase of his trial and for failing to object during the Charge Conference when the Court did not include the instruction on extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

A. Improper prosecutorial comments during penalty phase closing arguments.

Defendant contends that defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object to certain improper comments made by prosecution during the penalty phase closing arguments. Specifically, Defendant contends that defense counsel failed to object to: 1.) the prosecution's comments regarding the victim's final moments which were designed solely to inflame the passion of the jury and were not based on facts in evidence; 2.) the prosecution's denigration of a statutory mitigator; 3.) the prosecution's denigration of non-statutory mitigators; and 4.) the prosecution's use of the "Operation Desert Storm" story.

The State contends, generally, that the Supreme Court has addressed the issues raised in this ground and that the Court did not find any fundamental error with respect to the penalty phase closing argument by the prosecution. As such, Defendant is unable to demonstrate any prejudice as a result of defense counsel's failure to object to the prosecution's comments during the penalty phase closing argument. The State contends, further, that each of the allegedly improper prosecutorial comments were proper and therefore, defense counsel was not ineffective.

In an abundance of caution, the Court believes that an evidentiary hearing is necessary to resolve the issues raised in part A of ground IV.

B. Charge Conference.

Defendant contends that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object during the charge conference to the exclusion of an instruction that Defendant killed the victim while he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

The State contends in its Response that the issue of excluding the instruction was raised on direct appeal and the Supreme Court rejected Defendant's claim. As such, Defendant cannot demonstrate that the outcome of the penalty phase would have been any different had counsel objected. The Court agrees.

In its opinion, the Supreme Court devoted several pages to the issue of the excluded instruction. Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 994-997 (Fla. 2001). The Supreme Court stated that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the proposed instruction because the record did not demonstrate its necessity. Further, the trial court addressed the mitigators individually and determined the amount of weight given to each. Therefore, it is clear that even had defense counsel objected to the exclusion of the instruction, the outcome of the penalty phase would not have been different. As such, Defendant is not entitled to any relief on this ground.

(PCR V5:894-95). After conducting the evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied sub-claim A of the claim, stating in pertinent part:

In order for a defendant to be successful in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to allegedly improper comments during closing argument, the defendant must show that the comments that counsel failed to object to constitute fundamental error. Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045 (Fla. 2003). Here, the Supreme Court stated in its Opinion that "most of the arguments complained of do not constitute error, much less fundamental error." Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 1002 (Fla. 2001). As such, Defendant is unable to

demonstrate any prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object to the allegedly improper comments.

Furthermore, trial counsel for Defendant, Robert Fraser, Esq., stated at the June 18, 2004 hearing that he believed the prosecution's comments to be proper based on facts in the record. Also, Mr. Fraser stated that had the Supreme Court decision that condemned Assistant State Attorney, Karen Cox, for the use of the "Desert Storm" argument been rendered prior to its use in the instant case, he would have objected. (June 18, 2004 Transcript, pp. 76-80). Counsel cannot be held to anticipate future developments in the law. Meeks v. State, 382 So. 2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1980). trial counsel was not deficient representation. Therefore, Defendant is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

(PCR V5:879).

The State submits that the lower court properly denied Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel based on counsel's failure to object to comments made by the prosecutor in her penalty phase closing argument. When reviewing a postconviction court's order denying relief after conducting an evidentiary hearing, this Court defers to the trial court's findings on factual issues, but reviews the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the Strickland deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo. Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001). In this case, the lower court properly analyzed Appellant's ineffectiveness claim and concluded that he failed to show deficient performance or prejudice.

Appellant first argues that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments made by the prosecutor

regarding the victim's final moments which were allegedly made solely to inflame the passion of the jury. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the prosecutor's comments were based on the evidence produced at trial, namely, the victim was stabbed twice and the knife was twisted, she struggled with her attacker and had defensive wounds, the attack occurred in a small space of a hotel bathroom, the victim would have remained conscious for a short period of time, and her beeper was found next to her body. (DAR V23:2819-21).

The prosecutor's comments were clearly permissible as commenting on the evidence presented at trial and drawing reasonable inferences from that evidence that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Whether the victim was aware of her impending death, whether she experienced prolonged suffering before death, whether the cause of death was painful or even torturous, whether she fought for her life, and whether she experienced feelings of fear, terror, and helplessness are entirely relevant issues in a penalty phase proceeding in support of the statutory aggravating factor of especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. In fact, this Court relied on these facts when affirming the trial court's finding of HAC on direct appeal:

Tina Marie Cribbs died as a result of two fatal stab wounds inflicted while she was conscious. One

stab wound was in the buttock and the knife was driven in with such great force that the wound path was nine and one-half inches deep. While in her body, the knife was twisted ninety degrees before being pulled from its path. Tina Marie Cribbs was alive and conscious during the infliction of this fatal wound. The other stab wound was to her chest and was driven in with such force that the wound path was eight and one-half inches deep. While in her body, the knife was twisted ninety degrees before being pulled from its path. Tina Marie Cribbs was alive and conscious during the infliction of this fatal wound.

At some point during the attack on Cribbs, she struggled for her life, evidenced by blunt impact injuries to her torso and a laceration to her left wrist indicative of a defensive wound. All this took place in the small confines of a motel bathroom with little if any chance of escape, where Cribbs would have been face to face with her killer and his weapon of choice, a knife with a blade at least nine and one-half inches long.

Cribbs was conscious at the least long enough to realize her lifeblood was flowing down the bathtub drain and that she could not escape death.

Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 994 (Fla. 2001).

At the evidentiary hearing, penalty phase counsel Robert Fraser testified that he did not see anything wrong with the State's argument concerning the victim's perceptions at the time of her death. (PCR V4:610-11). Mr. Fraser testified that he was aware of caselaw allowing the State to argue facts in support of the HAC aggravator that caused the jury to focus on the victim's perception of the circumstances. (PCR V4:610). Obviously, the caselaw supports trial counsel's reasoning for not objecting to the prosecutor's argument. This Court has stated that in determining whether HAC applies, the trial court

considers the circumstances of the murder from the "unique perspective of the victim." Banks v. State, 700 So. 2d 363, 367 (Fla. 1997). The victim's "fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the murder, even where the victim's death was almost instantaneous." Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992). Because Appellant cannot show either deficient performance or prejudice as a result of trial counsel's actions, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling denying this sub-claim.

Appellant next contends that the prosecutor denigrated a statutory mental mitigating factor by making the following comments:

Mr. Rogers is a violent, aggressive person and brain damage has nothing to do with it. That's Glen Rogers.

Is there anything about the excuse of voluntarily use of alcohol that in any way mitigates the death of Tina Marie Cribbs? Oh, Mr. Rogers goes to a bar, spends his money to drink alcohol and then kills somebody and we're supposed to say, oh, well, that somehow takes away from the horror of that woman's death.

(DAR V23:2827-28). At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel Fraser testified that the prosecutor was not denigrating any defense, ²¹ but was simply attacking the facts presented by the defense; something she was legally entitled to do. Counsel testified that he could not show that Appellant's alleged brain

²¹ Appellant did not present a defense at trial of voluntary intoxication.

damage was responsible for the violent murder, so he could not stop the prosecutor from arguing the opposite proposition. (PCR V4:611-12).

After hearing the testimony and considering the record, the lower court found that Appellant could not establish prejudice because this issue was raised on direct appeal and this Court found that "most of the arguments complained of do not constitute error, much less fundamental error." Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 1002 (Fla. 2001). In Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045 (Fla. 2003), this Court found that in order for a defendant to be successful in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to allegedly improper comments during closing argument, the defendant must show that the comments that counsel failed to object to constitute fundamental error. Because this Court has previously found that the prosecutor's comments did not constitute error, much less fundamental error, Appellant is unable to establish prejudice. 22

Likewise, Appellant has failed to establish prejudice based on his claim regarding the prosecutor's alleged denigration of non-statutory mitigation during closing argument. Again,

The instant comments were raised on direct appeal in Appellant's Initial Brief at 64, Rogers v. State (Case No. 91,384).

Appellant raised these specific comments on direct appeal and this Court found that the comments were not erroneous, much less fundamental error. Initial Brief of Appellant at 64-65, Rogers v. State (Case No. 91,384). Accordingly, Appellant is unable to establish prejudice under Strickland. Rogers, 783 So. 2d at 1002; Chandler, 848 So. 2d at 1045.

Finally, Appellant that trial asserts counsel ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's "Operation Desert Storm" argument. Trial counsel testified that had this Court's opinion in Ruiz v. State, 743 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1999), 23 been issued prior to the comments made by the prosecutor in the instant case, he would have lodged an objection. The lower court denied this aspect of Appellant's claim based on his failure to establish prejudice, see Chandler, supra, and based on his failure to establish deficient performance. court noted that trial counsel could not be deficient for failing to anticipate future developments in the law. State, 382 So. 2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1980).

Appellant argues in his brief that had trial counsel objected to this comment, the probability of reversal on appeal would have been great. Initial Brief of Appellant at 80.

In <u>Ruiz</u>, this Court condemned prosecutor Cox's "Operation Desert Storm" argument and found that she presented "virtually the same" argument in the instant case. <u>Rogers</u>, 783 So. 2d at 1002 n.6.

Contrary to Appellant's assertion, this Court found that the improper comment did not warrant a mistrial and did not constitute fundamental error. Rogers, 783 So. 2d at 1002. Thus, even if counsel had objected, a mistrial would not have been warranted and therefore no prejudice can be shown.

Appellant also asserts that the trial court erred in concluding that trial counsel could not be deficient for failing to anticipate future developments in the law because he asserts that Ruiz was not new law. Obviously, because Ruiz had not been issued, counsel was not aware at the time of Appellant's penalty phase that this Court would condemn an argument similar to the one given in this case. Although there was obviously caselaw out at the time regarding prosecutorial misconduct, counsel cannot be faulted for failing to foresee this Court's decision in Ruiz.

Finally, trial counsel mitigated any prejudice from the improper "Operation Desert Storm" argument by utilizing his own improper argument extolling the love and loyalty of his 82-year-old, 85-pound mother who would battle bailiffs on his behalf, the moral courage taught in the Marine Corps thirty years ago, and the improper emotional appeal that the State wanted to "cook" Appellant. (PCR V23:2835, 2837, 2854). Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he capitalized on some

of the prosecutor's argument and made the same types of arguments that she made. (PCR V4:615). Because Appellant cannot show any deficient performance or prejudice based on counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's comments, this Court should affirm the lower court's order denying Appellant relief on this claim.

ISSUE V

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW ANY INDIVIDUAL ERRORS, MUCH LESS, ANY CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Appellant claims in his final issue that the arguments contained in his brief, when considered cumulatively by this Court, should cause this Court to vacate his judgment and sentence and order a new trial. The State has shown, however, that none of Appellant's claims have merit. The lower court agreed and found that because Appellant had failed to establish any of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he was not entitled to relief under a cumulative error analysis. (PCR V5:881).

Because there is no individual error to consider, Appellant is not entitled to combine meritless issues together in an attempt to create a valid "cumulative error" claim. See Brown v. State, 846 So. 2d 1114, 1126 (Fla. 2003) (upholding lower court's denial of cumulative error claim when each of the individual claims of ineffective assistance of counsel had been denied); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (finding no cumulative effect to consider where all claims were either meritless or procedurally barred); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that where allegations of individual error do not warrant relief, a cumulative error argument based thereon is without merit).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Appellee respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for postconviction relief.